2010

Utah v. Jamie Lynn Greenwood : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Defendant is facing trial on two counts of rape, a first degree felony, in violation of UTAH CODE ANN. § 76-5-402 (West Supp. 2010); one count of forcible sodomy, a first degree felony, in violation of UTAH CODE ANN. § 76-5-403 (West Supp. 2010); and one count of forcible sexual abuse, a second degree felony, in violation of UTAH CODE ANN. § 76-5-404 (West Supp. 2010). The State petitioned for review of the trial court's interlocutory order granting defendant's motion to waive a jury trial without the consent of the prosecution. This Court granted review and has jurisdiction under UTAH CODE ANN. § 78A-3-102(3)(h) (West 2009) (*Add. D*).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Rule 17(c), UTAH RULES OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE, permits a defendant to waive jury trial in a felony case, but only with the consent of the prosecution and

approval of the court. *See Add. A (Rule)*. Here, the trial court concluded that enforcing the rule would impinge on defendant's due process rights because: (a) a criminal defendant has a constitutional right to a bench trial over the objection of the prosecution; and (b) under the circumstances of this case, the selection of an impartial jury was impossible or unlikely.

1. Did the trial court erroneously conclude that a defendant has a constitutional right to a bench trial over the objection of the prosecution?

Standard of Review. A trial court's determination of constitutionality is reviewed for correctness on appeal. *See State v. Angilau*, 2011 UT 3, ¶ 7, 245 P.3d 745.

Preservation. The State preserved the issue at R. 114-17 (*Add. B*) & R139: 7-10, 14-15, 17-19, 22-23, 25, & 29 (*Add. C*).

2. Did the trial court erroneously conclude that compelling a jury trial in this case would violate due process because selection of an impartial jury was not possible or likely?

Standard of Review & Preservation. *See* Issue I.

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, AND RULES

The following determinative provisions are attached in *Addendum A*:

U.S. CONST., amend. VI;
UTAH R. CRIM. P. 17.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In March 2010, defendant was charged with one count of rape, two counts of forcible sodomy, and one count of forcible sexual abuse (R. 1-4). The information alleged that defendant, who was in her forties, engaged in various sex acts with her son's teenage friend (*id.*). After the victim testified at a preliminary hearing, defendant was bound over for trial (R. 16). A three-day jury trial was scheduled for August 2010 (R. 22-23).

The morning of the scheduled jury trial, defendant for the first time sought to waive a jury trial and requested that the trial judge determine the case (R139: 3). Defendant acknowledged that rule 17(c), UTAH RULES OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE, permitted jury waiver in a felony case only if the prosecution consented – which it had not in this case – but claimed that “there are certain circumstances . . . where . . . the Court has the discretion” not to enforce the rule (R139: 20).

Defendant asserted that this case was such a circumstance. She admitted that she had illegally engaged in sex with the teenage victim, but claimed that based on his alleged consent and other age-based issues, she might be convicted of some lesser offense than the offenses charged (R139: 5 & 20-21). Defendant explained that “an analytical and legal pre-trained mind looking and weighing the factors is going to give her a much more objective decision than trying to, in a short time, explain and try to articulate to a jury the fine lines between perhaps rape and unlawful

sexual activity or unlawful sexual conduct with a minor, and for this reason, she is choosing to go with the bench as a trier of fact” (R139: 5-6, 12-13, & 21). Defendant opined that the trial judge would “be more objective in looking specifically at the facts and not weighing out the media and the impression that they may have already made upon the public down here in the Salt Lake Valley,” but admitted that no media had attended “the last couple” of hearings (R139: 6).

The prosecutor objected (R139: 7-10, 17-19, & 22-23). Citing rule 17(c), the prosecutor argued that a defendant’s waiver of a jury in a felony case could not be accepted over the prosecution’s objection (R. 114-117; R139: 7-10, 14-15, 17-19, 22-23, 25 & 29). The prosecutor pointed out that precedent interpreting rule 17(c) and an identical federal rule had repeatedly upheld the constitutionality of this limitation (R. 114-17). And although dicta in the leading Supreme Court case recognized that compelling a defendant to undergo a jury trial might possibly violate due process “in some circumstances,” the Supreme Court and other courts recognized that this possibility was rare and might occur only if a defendant established that an impartial jury was impossible or unlikely in a given case (R139: 13-24). The prosecutor argued that such a circumstance did not exist here, especially given that potential jurors had not even been questioned (R139: 7-10, 17-19, & 22-23).

The prosecutor acknowledged that the charges initially generated some media attention, but by the time of trial, only one reporter had expressed interest in the

case (R139: 9). The prosecutor also noted that if pretrial publicity were a concern, the defense should have requested a pretrial juror questionnaire as was often done in high-profile cases (R139: 9-10). In any case, any undue influence that publicity might have had on an individual juror could be discovered in voir dire and cured (R139: 22-23). The prosecutor further explained that the State did not oppose inclusion of a lesser offense instruction, but that this involved only one of the four charged offenses (R139: 8-9). The prosecutor noted that juries typically consider consent and other age-determinative issues in sex offense cases and that there was no basis here to assume that the selected jury could not fairly resolve these issues (*id.*).

The trial court disagreed (R139: 10-12, 13-15, & 23-26; R. 106-07) (*Add. B & C*). First, the court was “concerned” that rule 17(c)’s requirement of prosecution consent unfairly gave the State “the ability to control the case from the standpoint of whether its going to be tried by the jury or by the Court” (R139: 10-11). The court recognized that rule and precedent allowed such “control,” but opined that compelling a defendant to undergo a jury trial “simply because the State refuses to give its consent to the waiver” creates a “tremendous burden” on the defense that implicates due process (R139: 13-14). The court second concluded that the circumstances of this case mandated a bench trial:

The Court is satisfied in this case [of defendant's waiver of jury trial] because of the nature of the allegations and the prior publicity, along with the . . . very fine line between offenses charged and the potential lesser included offenses. The Court believes that it would be a denial of [defendant's] due process rights to force her to be tried by a jury.

(R139:14).

The court then accepted defendant's waiver of jury trial, excused the jury pool, and ordered a bench trial to begin the next morning (R139: 14). The court refused to stay commencement of the bench trial to allow the State time to seek interlocutory review (R138: 4-11). The State petitioned this Court for an emergency stay and interlocutory review, both of which were granted (R. 121 & 135) (*Add. D*).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Defendant has not yet been convicted of any crime and the facts are only alleged. Nevertheless, the allegations are relevant because the trial court concluded that no jury could fairly determine the facts. *See Statement of the Case, supra*.

The probable cause statement in the information states that A.B. alleged that "beginning around March 1, 2009 through January 31, 2009, he had a sexual relationship with the defendant, Jamie Lynn Greenwood. Throughout the above time period the defendant would give A.B. gifts and cash and asked to be paid back with sexual favors. At the same time the defendant would threaten to call A.B.'s mother unless he did as she requested" (R. 3). "The two engaged in sexual intercourse and had oral sex numerous times at different locations in Salt Lake

County. The relationship ended when the defendant and A.B. were discovered as the defendant forced A.B. to put his finger in her vagina” (*id.*). A.B. was fifteen and sixteen during the above time period, and the defendant was forty and forty-one. The defendant was A.B.’s friend’s mother” (R. 4).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court – as well as the United States Supreme Court – has recognized that a defendant charged with a felony has no constitutional right to a bench trial. Consequently, both courts have upheld the constitutionality of reasonable limitations on a defendant’s waiver of jury trial. Specifically, this Court has upheld the constitutionality of rule 17(c), UTAH RULES OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE, which requires that the prosecution consent before a defendant’s waiver of jury trial is accepted. Similarly, the United States Supreme Court has upheld the constitutionality of substantively identical rule 23, FEDERAL RULES OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE.

Nevertheless, the trial court refused to enforce rule 17(c) and accepted defendant’s waiver of jury trial over the prosecution’s objection. The court ruled that rule 17(c)’s requirement of prosecution consent impinges on a defendant’s constitutional right to a bench trial. The court further concluded that compelling this defendant to undergo a jury trial violated due process because selection of an impartial jury in this case was impossible or unlikely. Although the court had not yet questioned a single prospective juror, it based its decision on three factors: (1)

the case involved sex charges; (2) defendant claimed that the teenage victim consented; and (3) the case had generated some pretrial publicity. The trial court erred.

It is well established that compelling a defendant to undergo a jury trial impinges on no constitutional right. Some dicta in the leading Supreme Court case acknowledges the possibility that compelling a defendant to undergo a jury trial might implicate due process, but only in the unusual circumstance where “passion, prejudice[,or] public feeling” rendered selection of an impartial jury impossible or unlikely. Numerous cases recognize, however, that this circumstance rarely, if ever, occurs. Contrary to the trial court’s ruling, no such unusual circumstance exists here and enforcement of rule 17(c) would not have resulted in an unfair trial.

In sum, the trial court’s acceptance of defendant’s jury waiver should be reversed and a jury trial ordered.

ARGUMENT

I.

A CRIMINAL DEFENDANT CHARGED WITH A FELONY HAS NO CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO A BENCH TRIAL OVER THE OBJECTION OF THE PROSECUTION; CONSEQUENTLY, THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT ENFORCING RULE 17

In Utah, a defendant charged with a felony may waive jury trial only with the consent of the prosecution:

All felony cases shall be tried by jury unless the defendant waives a jury in open court with the approval of the court and the consent of the prosecution.

UTAH R. CRIM. P. 17(c) (*Add. A*). Rule 17(c) is patterned on a substantively identical federal rule:

If the defendant is entitled to a jury trial, the trial must be by jury unless:

- (1) the defendant waives a jury trial in writing;
- (2) the government consents; and
- (3) the court approves.

FED. R. CRIM. P. 23(a) (*Add. A*). Both rules embrace a criminal defendant's constitutional right to be tried by a jury. But both state and federal precedent interpreting these rules recognize that the converse is not true: a defendant has no constitutional right to a bench trial. *See cases cited, below*.

In this case, the trial court refused to enforce rule 17(c) and granted defendant's waiver of jury trial over the objection of the prosecution (R. 106-07) (*Add. B*). The court's reasoning was two-fold. The court first concluded that a defendant has a constitutional right to a bench trial whether or not the prosecution consents (R. 106). The court second concluded that compelling this defendant to undergo a jury trial violated due process because no jury could be impartial in this case (R. 106-07).

Both determinations are erroneous. A criminal defendant charged with a felony has no constitutional right to a bench trial. *See discussion, below*. And the circumstances of this case do not establish that an impartial jury was impossible or unlikely. *See Point II*. The trial court's order granting defendant's motion to waive jury trial should be reversed.

* * *

Over fifty years ago, the United States Supreme Court held that a criminal defendant's Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial does not "carry with it the right to insist upon the opposite of that right." *Singer v. United States*, 380 U.S. 24, 34-35 (1965). That is, a defendant has no constitutional right to a bench trial. *Id.* *See also Gannett Co., Inc. v. DePasquale*, 443 U.S. 368, 382-83 (1979) (reaffirming *Singer's* holding that defendants may not compel "private" bench trials over "public" jury trials).

This Court has consistently recognized the same principle. *See State v. Robbins*, 709 P.2d 771, 772 (Utah 1985) (holding that "there is no constitutional right to a trial by a judge rather than a jury"); *State v. Davis*, 689 P.2d 5, 13 (Utah 1984) (holding that "neither the state nor the federal constitution guarantees [a defendant] a right to 'waive' a jury trial); and *State v. Studham*, 655 P.2d 669, 671 (Utah 1982) (same).

Consequently, a defendant's waiver of a jury trial — like other constitutional rights — may be "subjected to reasonable procedural regulations." *Singer*, 380 U.S. at 35. Such reasonable regulation includes conditioning the acceptance of a defendant's jury waiver upon the consent of the prosecution and the approval of the court. *Id.* at 36. *See also Robbins*, 709 P.2d at 771-72; *Davis*, 689 P.2d at 12-13; and *Studham*, 655 P.2d at 671 (all upholding requirement of prosecution consent).

While such a limitation may compel a defendant to "undergo a jury trial against his will," it is not "contrary to his right to a fair trial or to due process," because "the result is simply that the defendant is subject to an impartial trial by jury — the very thing that the constitution guarantees him." *Singer*, 380 U.S. at 36. Moreover, the government, "as a litigant, has a legitimate interest in seeing that cases in which it believes a conviction is warranted are tried before the tribunal which the Constitution regards as most likely to produce a fair result." *Id.* *See also State v. Justice Court*, 56 P.3d 5, 10; *Commonwealth v. Tharp*, 754 A.2d. 1251, 1253-54 (Penn. 2000) (both upholding legitimacy of state constitutional provisions granting prosecution same jury trial right as defendant).

Here, the trial court acknowledged rule 17(c)'s requirement of consent and the precedent upholding that requirement (R139: 10-11 & 13; R.106). Nevertheless, the court refused to enforce rule 17(c) because the court disagreed with the rule's underlying premise. According to the trial court, compelling a defendant to

undergo a jury trial creates a “tremendous burden” that potentially infringes on a defendant’s “due process rights” (R139: 13-14; R. 106-07).

No Supreme Court or federal circuit court decision has so held, however. *See United States v. U.S. Dist. Court for Eastern Dist. of Calif.*, 464 F.3d 1065, 1070-72 (9th Cir. 2006) (recognizing that federal appellate decisions have consistently upheld constitutionality of rule 23’s government consent requirement), *cert. denied*, 551 U.S. 1133 (2007). The Utah Supreme Court—like the majority of state courts—has likewise concluded that there is no constitutional infringement in requiring the prosecution’s consent for jury waiver. *See Robbins*, 709 P.2d at 772 (recognizing Utah has consistently upheld constitutionality of rule 17(c)’s requirement of prosecution consent for jury waiver); *State v. Oakley*, 72 P.3d 1114, 1120-21 (Wash. App. 2003) (citing various state authorities upholding requirement of prosecution consent). The few decisions to the contrary are based on specific state provisions granting a defendant the unilateral right to control the mode of trial. *See id.* at 1121 (citing Oregon and Illinois contrary decisions based on their state constitutional or common law provisions). Or, one case was based on the defendant’s religious belief in a non-jury trial. *See United States v. Lewis*, 638 F.Supp. 573, 581 (W.D. Mich. 1986) (ruling that “sincerely held religious belief against submitting to a jury trial” is protected under the First Amendment and trumps procedural rule requiring government consent to jury waiver).

The trial court's conclusion here was erroneously based on dicta in *Singer* (R139: 10-14; R. 106-107). In *Singer*, the Supreme Court noted the possibility that compelling a defendant to undergo a jury trial might result in a due process violation in the rare circumstance where no impartial jury could be seated:

We need not determine in this case whether there might be some circumstances where a defendant's reasons for wanting to be tried by a judge alone are so compelling that the Government's insistence on trial by jury would result in a denial to a defendant of an impartial trial. Petitioner argues that there might arise situations where "passion, prejudice . . . public feeling" or some other factor may render impossible or unlikely an impartial trial by jury. However, since petitioner gave no reason for wanting to forgo jury trial other than to save time, this is not such a case, and petitioner does not claim that it is.

Singer, 380 U.S. at 37-38. In the ensuing years since *Singer*, no federal appellate court has ever found such a case to actually exist. See *U.S. Dist. Court for Eastern Dist. of Calif.*, 464 F.3d at 1070-71 (recognizing that neither Supreme Court nor federal circuit courts have found "circumstances alluded to in *Singer* actually existed"). But see *United States v. Clark*, 943 F.2d 775, 784 (7th Cir. 1991) (holding that a defendant has no constitutional right to bench trial, but recognizing two federal district court cases from 1970's that allowed jury waiver over government objection due to complexity of trying "multiple defendants" on "multiple medicaid, medicare and tax fraud" charges), *cert. denied*, 509 U.S. 926 (1993). Utah likewise has never found such a case to actually exist. Cf. *Robbins*, 709 P.2d at 772.

Moreover, decisions discussing *Singer's* dicta recognize that not being able to impanel an impartial jury is only a remote possibility given the “abundance of tools” trial courts have to ensure a fair trial. For example, courts may order pretrial jury questionnaires; they may conduct more extensive voir dire; they may grant additional jury strikes; they may limit admission of unduly prejudicial evidence; or they may continue a trial to allow any adverse impact of pretrial publicity to diminish. See UTAH R. CRIM. P. 18 (governing selection of jury); UTAH R. EVID. 403 (permitting relevant, but unduly prejudicial information to be excluded). See also *U.S. Dist. Court for Eastern Dist. of Calif.*, 464 F.3d at 1071 (recognizing that jury questionnaires, individual voir dire, jury instructions, and limitations on admission of unduly prejudicial evidence minimize possibility of inflaming or biasing jury); *United States v. Daniels*, 282 F.Supp. 360, 361 (N.D. Ill. 1968) (recognizing that trial continuance after media coverage had ended likely would reduce adverse effect of pretrial publicity on potential jurors). Thus, while the possibility of a due process violation may exist in some rare case, this possibility does not negate the general legitimacy of waiver-limitation rules. Rather, recognition of such a possibility acknowledges only a truism: a defendant may prove a denial of due process if he establishes that his trial was unfair.

In sum, the trial court erred in concluding that a defendant charged with a felony has a constitutional right to a bench trial over the objection of the prosecution. As a result, the trial court erred in not enforcing rule 17(c).

II.

SELECTION OF AN IMPARTIAL JURY WAS NOT IMPOSSIBLE OR UNLIKELY IN THIS CASE; CONSEQUENTLY, THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT ENFORCING RULE 17

The trial court also erroneously concluded that enforcement of rule 17(c) in this case would necessarily result in an unfair trial because selection of an impartial jury was impossible or unlikely (R139: 10-14; R. 106-07).

After the court concluded that rule 17(c)'s requirement of prosecution consent could not constitutionally be required in all cases, the court considered the rule's application to the facts of this case (R139: 14; R. 106-07). The court concluded that three circumstances established the impossibility of a fair trial if defendant were compelled to undergo a jury trial: (1) the case involved sex offenses; (2) a "close line" existed between the charged offenses and any lesser offense based on consent and the victim's age; and (3) there had been some pretrial publicity (*id.*). None of these circumstances, however, establishes that a jury trial would be unfair.

As discussed, the trial court relied on *Singer's* dicta in concluding that enforcement of rule 17(c) in all cases would be unconstitutional. The trial court relied on the same dicta in concluding that enforcement of the rule in this case

would result in an unfair trial (R. 13-14; R. 106-07). But as discussed, very few cases have reached a similar conclusion based on the facts of a given case. *See cases, supra, at 13.*

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