2010

Utah v. Jamie Lynn Greenwood : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by granting Defendant's motion for waiver of trial by jury.

A. For purposes of review, the trial court's waiver of jury trial determination constitutes a mixed question of fact and law due to the trial court's application of the legal concept of waiver to the fact scenario presented in the instant case. The test employed for determining the standard of review for mixed questions demonstrates that deference should be granted to the trial court when analyzing a request for waiver of jury trial.

B. The trial court, based on the particular facts and circumstances of the case, acted within its discretion by granting the waiver of trial by jury. In light of the United States Supreme Court's statement in *Singer*, the prosecution's consent does not appear to be an inflexible condition precedent to trial before a judge alone. Rather, one may conclude that *Singer* suggests an exception to the general rule when "passion, prejudice or public feelings" would deny an accused a fair and impartial trial.

The trial court acted within its discretion in granting Defendant's motion to waive the jury trial inasmuch as the decision was based on a thoughtful consideration of the

particular facts and circumstances of the case and pursuant to binding case law that, at the very least, provides an exception to the general rule of waiver of trial by jury.

C. The State failed to marshal the evidence supporting the challenged findings. Instead of marshaling the evidence, the State challenged only the trial court's legal ruling of waiver -- the same argument presented to the trial court. The State made no effort to challenge the facts or circumstances underlying the trial court's determination that a waiver of the trial by jury was appropriate.

If the marshaling requirement is not met, the appellate court has grounds to affirm the court's findings on that basis alone. Moreover, the appellate court assumes that the evidence supports the trial court's findings.

D. The State failed to provide this court with an adequate record of the predicated error. When a party predicates error to this Court, it has the duty and responsibility of supporting such allegation with an adequate record. Without an adequate record, this Court simply cannot rule on a question which depends for its existence upon alleged facts unsupported by the record.

Because the transcripts of the preliminary hearing and hearing on Defendant's 412 Motion are not part of the record -

the record is silent concerning matters critical to the trial court findings, which, in turn, served as a basis for granting Defendant's waiver of a trial by jury. These critical matters included the relatively fine line between the issue of consent in the instant case, and that, given the issue of consent, there are lesser included offenses requiring a weighing of factors to be analyzed by a court. As such, the State failed to provide this Court with a complete record of all the evidence that was before the trial court that is relevant to the alleged error. Because the State failed to provide an adequate record, this Court presumes the correctness of the proceedings below.

ARGUMENTS

I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY GRANTING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR WAIVER OF TRIAL BY JURY.

Utah Rule of Criminal Procedure 17(c) dictates that "[a]ll felony cases shall be tried by jury unless the defendant waived a jury in open court with the approval of the court and the consent of the prosecution." Utah R. Crim. P. 17(c).⁷ Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 23(a) is the counterpart to Rule 17(c), which likewise provides, "If a defendant is entitled to a jury trial, the

⁷A true and correct copy of Utah R. Crim P. 17 is attached to this Brief as Addendum C.

trial must be by jury unless: (1) the defendant waives a jury trial in writing; (2) the government consents; and (3) the court approves." Fed. R. Crim. P. 23(a).⁸

In *Singer v. United States*, 380 U.S. 24, 85 S.Ct. 783 (1965),⁹ the United States Supreme Court took the opportunity to interpret the permissibility of Rule 23(a) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure. In that case, Singer had been charged in federal district court with 30 infractions of the federal mail fraud statute. *Id.* at 25; 85 S.Ct. at 785. On the first day of trial, Singer offered in writing to waive a trial by jury solely and simply "[f]or the purpose of shortening the trial." *Id.* Although the trial court approved the waiver, the government refused to give its consent. *Id.* Singer was subsequently convicted by a jury on 29 of the 30 counts, and the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed. *Id.* The United States Supreme Court granted certiorari. *Id.*

On appeal, Singer challenged the permissibility of the federal rule, arguing that the United States Constitution gives a defendant the right to waive a jury trial whenever he believes such waiver "to be to his advantage", regardless of whether the government

⁸A true and correct copy of Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 23(a) is attached as Addendum A to the State's Brief of Appellant.

⁹A true and correct copy of *Singer v. United States*, 380 U.S. 24, 85 S.Ct. 783 (1965), is attached to this Brief as Addendum D.

consents and the court approves of the waiver. *Id.* at 25-26; 88 S.Ct. at 785.

In the course of its analysis, the Court determined that "there is no federally recognized right to a criminal trial before a judge sitting alone, but a defendant can . . . in some instances waive his right to a trial by jury." *Id.* at 34; 88 S.Ct. at 790. According to the Court, "[t]he ability to waive a constitutional right does not ordinarily carry with it the right to insist upon the opposite of that right" and "although a defendant can under some circumstances waive his constitutional right to a public trial, he has no absolute right to compel a private trial" *Id.* at 34-35; 88 S.Ct. at 790.

The Court consequently upheld the validity of Rule 23(a), determining that there is "no constitutional impediment to conditioning a waiver of this right on the consent of the prosecuting attorney and the trial judge when, if either refuses to consent, the result is simply that the defendant is subject to an impartial trial by jury -- the very thing that the Constitution guarantees him." *Id.* at 36; 88 S.Ct. at 790. The Court then limited its ruling by stating the following:

We need not determine in this case whether there might be some circumstances where a defendant's reasons for wanting to be tried by a judge alone are so compelling that the Government's insistence on trial by jury would result in the denial to a

defendant of an impartial trial. Petitioner argues that there might arise situations where "passion, prejudice . . . public feeling" or some other factor may render impossible or unlikely an impartial trial by jury. However, since petitioner gave no reason for wanting to forgo jury trial other than to save time, this is not such a case, and petitioner does not claim that it is.

Id. at 37-38; 88 S.Ct. at 791 (footnote omitted).

In *State v. Black*, 551 P.2d 518 (Utah 1976), which appears to be one of the earliest Utah cases addressing a request for waiver of trial by jury, the defendant had moved, at the end of the State's case, to waive the jury and be tried by the court. *Id.* at 520. The trial court refused the request and the defendant appealed. *Id.* This Court held that "[t]here is no constitutional right to be tried without a jury. The right guaranteed by the Constitution of Utah is to be tried by a jury. This right may be waived in some instances." *Id.* The Court further opined that "[c]ertainly the court has a discretion not to dismiss the jury in the middle of the trial simply because the defendant may deem it advantageous to his cause." *Id.*

Since that time, this Court has, for the most part, essentially held that "there is no constitutional right to a trial by a judge rather than a jury." *State v. Robbins*, 709 P.2d 771, 772 (Utah 1985) (citing *Singer v. United States*, 380 U.S. 24, 85 S.Ct. 783 (1965); *State v. Davis*, 689 P.2d 5, 12-13 (Utah 1984);

State v. Studham, 655 P.2d 669 (Utah 1982)). In *Robbins*, this Court's most recent pronouncement, the defendant moved to waive trial by jury, which the trial court denied. *Id.* On appeal, the defendant challenged the constitutionality of the rule and statute allowing a prosecutor to veto a defendant's waiver of jury trial. *Id.* The defendant claimed that "prejudicial publicity" made it impossible for him to receive an impartial jury trial. *Id.* However, the Court did not reach the issue because there was "nothing before the Court that even suggests that Robbins was denied a fair trial because the case was tried to a jury." *Id.* (citing *Davis*, 689 P.2d at 13).

In this case, the trial court granted Defendant's motion for waiver of jury trial over the objection of the prosecutor. In so doing, the court confirmed its understanding of Rule 17(c) and the applicable case law, stating that it did not believe a defendant is prevented in every case from waiving his or her right to a jury trial (R. 139:13:18-23). Citing the *Singer* decision, the trial court stated that this case, in light of the specific grounds presented to the court, provided an exception to the general rule (R. 139:24:8-22). Those grounds included "the nature of the allegations and the prior publicity along with the . . . very fine line between the offenses charged and the lesser included offenses." (R. 139:10-14).

**A. The Trial Court's Waiver of Jury Trial
Determination Constitutes a Mixed Question of
Fact and Law.**

"It is widely agreed that the primary function of a standard of review is to apportion power and, consequently, responsibility between trial and appellate courts for determining an issue or a class of issues." *State v. Thurman*, 846 P.2d 1256, 1265-66 (Utah 1993) (citations omitted). Standards of review allocate discretion between the trial and appellate courts in a way that takes into account the "relative capabilities of each level of the court system to take evidence and make findings of fact in the face of conflicting evidence, on one hand, and to set binding jurisdiction-wide policy, on the other." *State v. Levin*, 2006 UT 50, ¶ 19, 144 P.3d 1096 (citing *Thurman*, 846 P.2d at 1266).

The State claims that the standard of review in the instant case is for correction of error. See State's Brief of Appellant, p. 2. However, the trial court's application of the legal concept of waiver of trial by jury to the particular fact scenario at bar presents a mixed question of fact and law. *State v. Virgin*, 2006 UT 29, ¶ 27, 137 P.3d 787. This application of the general rule of law to the particular facts or circumstances of the case is necessary to determine if they are so compelling that the prosecutor's objection would result in the denial to defendant of a fair and impartial trial. See *United States v. Singer*, 380 U.S.

24, 37-38, 85 S.Ct. 783, 791 (1965); *see also State v. Robbins*, 709 P.2d 771, 772 (Utah 1985) (citing *State v. Davis*, 689 P.2d 5, 13 (Utah 1984)); and *State v. Black*, 551 P.2d 518, 520 (Utah 1976) (stating that the constitutional right to be tried by a jury "may be waived in some instances").

The analytical complexity of an appellate court's review is at its height when reviewing a trial court's application of a legal concept to a given set of facts. *See Levin*, 2006 UT 50 at ¶ 21. When reviewing mixed questions, the resulting amount of deference to be provided to the trial court will vary according to the nature of the legal concept at issue. *Id.* (citing *State v. Pena*, 869 P.2d 932, 939 (Utah 1994); *Searle v. Milburn Irrig. Co.*, 2006 UT 16, ¶ 16, 133 P.3d 382). The test employed for determining the standard of review for mixed questions considers the following factors: (1) the degree of variety and complexity in the facts to which the legal rule is to be applied; (2) the degree to which a trial court's application of the legal rule relies on "facts" observed by the trial judge that cannot be adequately reflected in the record on appeal; and (3) other "policy reasons that weigh for or against granting discretion to trial courts." *Levin*, 2006 UT 50 at ¶ 25 (citing *Virgin*, 2006 UT 29 at ¶ 28).

Applying the test to the instant case - the first factor weighs in favor of granting discretion¹⁰ to the trial court inasmuch as the cases presented will be of varying complexity, making it difficult to balance and articulate a rule that adequately takes into consideration the variations of facts and circumstances that arise under each factual scenario. See, e.g., *United States v. Braunstein*, 474 F.Supp. 1, 13 (D.N.J. 1979) (waiver allowed over government's objection in case of alleged Medicaid fraud and income tax charges); *United States v. Panteleakis*, 422 F.Supp. 247, 249 (D.R.I. 1976) (waiver of jury trial granted over objection of government involving 21 count indictment for Medicare fraud, multiple defendants, and intricate rulings of admissibility); *United States v. Schipani*, 44 F.R.D. 461, 463 (E.D.N.Y. 1968) (non-jury trial ordered over the government's objection due to substantial danger that the defendant would be prejudiced because no admonition and exclusions of evidence would erase that substantial danger).

¹⁰Prior Utah Supreme Court case law addressing waiver of trial by jury indicates that discretion has been granted to trial courts when performing a waiver analysis. See *State v. Black*, 551 P.2d 518, 520 (Utah 1976) (stating that the right to trial by jury "may be waived in some instances" and that the trial court has "discretion" not to grant the requested waiver in the middle of trial); see also *State v. Studham*, 655 P.2d 669, 671 (Utah 1982) (stating that the record reflected "no circumstance that so clearly demonstrates an invasion of due process or waiver of rights such as to constitute an abuse of discretion" by the trial court).

Second, the consideration of a request for waiver of jury trial, when properly presented, would require the trial court to observe and assess witness demeanor and credibility. Although the trial court's credibility determinations in this context may be limited in nature -- the court's proximity to the particular facts and circumstances of the case weights in favor of granting some discretion.

Finally, policy considerations weigh in favor of granting trial courts discretion. Trial courts play an important role in this context by ferreting out groundless reasons for requesting a waiver of trial by jury. *See, e.g., United States v. Caldarazzo*, 444 F.2d 1046 (7th Cir.), *cert. denied*, 404 U.S. 958, 92 S.Ct. 328 (1971) (request for waiver without consent of government denied where the defendant claimed "possible factual complexities" involving conspiracy charge). Further, the "novelty of the situation" as borne out by the paucity of Utah case law on the topic weighs in favor of granting trial courts deference in these situations. *See Levin*, 2006 UT 50 at ¶ 30.

B. The Trial Court, Based on the Particular Facts and Circumstances of the Case, Acted Within its Discretion by Granting the Waiver of Trial by Jury.

Defendant moved to waive her right to trial by jury pursuant to Rule 17(c) of the Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure. Rule 17(c)

provides, "All felony cases shall be tried by jury unless the defendant waived a jury in open court with the approval of the court and the consent of the prosecution." Utah R. Crim. P. 17(c).

In *Singer v. United States*, 380 U.S. 24, 85 S.Ct. 783 (1965), the United States Supreme Court stated:

We need not determine in this case whether there might be some circumstances where a defendant's reasons for wanting to be tried by a judge alone are so compelling that the Government's insistence on trial by jury would result in the denial to a defendant of an impartial trial. Petitioner argues that there might arise situations where "passion, prejudice . . . public feeling" or some other factor may render impossible or unlikely an impartial trial by jury. However, since petitioner gave no reason for wanting to forgo jury trial other than to save time, this is not such a case, and petitioner does not claim that it is.

Id. at 37-38; 88 S.Ct. at 791 (footnote omitted). In light of this statement, the prosecution's consent does not appear to be an inflexible condition precedent to trial before a judge alone. At the very least, one may conclude that *Singer* suggests an exception to the general rule when "passion, prejudice or public feelings" would deny an accused a fair and impartial trial. See *id.*; see also *State v. Black*, 551 P.2d 518, 520 (Utah 1976) (stating "[t]his right may be waived in some instances") and *State v. Robbins*, 709 P.2d 771, 772 (Utah 1985) (considering whether claim of "prejudicial publicity" amounted to denial of impartial jury trial).

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